RECEIVED

Jul 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Alison R. Lee
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001663
Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CP-40-02496

South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, Respondent,

v.

WestPoint Home, LLC..... Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

LAW OFFICES OF HERBERT BEIGEL

M. Todd Carroll
S.C. Bar No. 74000
todd.carroll@wbd-us.com
1221 Main Street, Suite 1600
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 454-6504

Herbert Beigel
Pro Hac Vice
hbeigel@me.com
5641 N. Chieftan Trail
Tucson, AZ 85750
(520) 825-1995

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

This appeal presents three issues for the Court's review:

1. WestPoint Stevens was a company that declared bankruptcy and has not been in business since 2005. When buying WestPoint Stevens' assets out of bankruptcy, WestPoint Home deposited \$1.8 million in a bank account to collateralize a letter of credit that provided security for workers' compensation claims made by former WestPoint Stevens employees. Despite there never being \$1.8 million in workers' compensation claims pending, the Workers' Compensation Commission withdrew that entire deposit, secreted into an account with the State Treasurer, and has wrongfully been collecting interest on WestPoint Home's deposit since 2005. The circuit court held that the Commission was "fully justified" in sweeping all of WestPoint Home's deposit out of its private bank account and keeping the earnings on that deposit. Was that ruling in error?

2. Because WestPoint Stevens went out business in 2005, the statute of repose for workers' compensation claims by its former employees closed in 2007. The Commission's Executive Director testified to this point at trial, and it is how every court that has examined the issue has ruled. Notwithstanding the proof at trial and the authority construing the statute of repose, the circuit court held that the Commission could continue to retain the unused portion of WestPoint Home's deposit—nearly \$1.2 million—indefinitely. Was that ruling in error?

3. Is WestPoint Home entitled to collect prejudgment interest on the amounts owed to it by the Commission?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a dispute about \$1.8 million that WestPoint Home deposited over 18 years ago when purchasing assets of a company in bankruptcy that was self-insured for workers' compensation claims made by its South Carolina employees. That deposit was ordered by a Bankruptcy Court in New York in 2005 as security for potential claims by the bankrupt company's now-former employees, but it turned out to be far in excess of the security actually needed.

Despite not needing the entirety of that deposit, the Workers' Compensation Commission wrongfully seized all of WestPoint Home's deposit in 2005; it has wrongfully collected interest on that deposit ever since; and it now refuses to return the unused, and never-to-be-used, portion. The factual background necessary to understand how this case came to be is detailed below, along with this case's procedural history.

I. Factual Background

A. WestPoint Stevens operated textile plants in South Carolina, but it declared bankruptcy in 2003 and went out of business in 2005.

WestPoint Stevens was a textile manufacturer with facilities in South Carolina. It was initially known as WestPoint Pepperell. On May 6, 1988, WestPoint Pepperell acquired four plants from J.P. Stevens, the merger of which became WestPoint Stevens. (R. p. 211; Letter from WestPoint Pepperell to Commission, at 2 (Aug. 28, 1989).)

In 2003, WestPoint Stevens filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy, Case No. 03-13532 (RDD) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.). Although the typical goal of a Chapter 11 case is for the debtor to reorganize and confirm a plan of reorganization, when the debtor is unable to confirm a plan, it may have to liquidate its assets instead of reorganizing. That is what happened to WestPoint Stevens, as it was unable to propose a plan of reorganization that would obtain the requisite votes to confirm from its sophisticated, well-informed creditors. *See generally In re WestPoint Stevens, Inc.*, 600 F.3d

231, 236–37 (2d Cir. 2010) (describing the history of WestPoint Stevens’ bankruptcy proceedings).

The entity that is now known as WestPoint Home was the successful bidder during the bankruptcy sale. (*See* R. pp. 868–873 (tracing the corporate history of WestPoint Home).) The parties entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement that outlined in specific detail that WestPoint Home was purchasing only WestPoint Stevens’ assets out of the bankruptcy process. (R. p. 260; Asset Purchase Agreement with Attachments.)

WestPoint Stevens subsequently went out of business on August 8, 2005. (R. p. 98; Trial Tr. 20:2–3.)

B. At the time of the bankruptcy, WestPoint Stevens was self-insured for purposes of workers’ compensation claims.

At time of the 1988 WestPoint Pepperell–J.P. Stevens merger, the employees at J.P. Stevens’ South Carolina plants were insured for workers’ compensation claims through private insurance, and injuries to J.P. Stevens employees that occurred prior to that acquisition continued to be covered by insurance. (R. p. 212; Commission Internal Database Screenshot.) WestPoint Pepperell, on the other hand, was self-insured for purposes of workers’ compensation claims. As noted above, the combined company eventually became known as WestPoint Stevens, and WestPoint Stevens was a self-insured employer for workers’ compensation purposes. (R. p. 210; Letter from WestPoint Pepperell to Commission, at 1 (Aug. 28, 1989).)

The South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission requires companies that self-insure for workers’ compensation claims to provide sufficient surety for potential claims. The Commission does not have any actuaries on staff. (R. p. 119; Trial Tr. 41:15–17 (testimony of Mr. Cannon).) Instead, the agency uses the following actuarial formula for calculating the surety requirement for self-insured employers:

- The average annual claims paid for the last three years,
- Multiplied by a factor of 1.5, and then
- Rounded to the next highest \$50,000

(R. p. 216; Letter from Commission to WestPoint Stevens (July 14, 1997); R. pp. 119–120; Trial Tr. 41:21–42:13.)

The agency’s actuarial formula for calculating the surety amount is the same for bankrupt and non-bankrupt companies. (R. p. 156; Trial Tr. 78:7–19.) The formula is specifically designed to set surety “at a level sufficient to pay all claims in the event of an insolvency.” (R. p. 216; Letter from Commission to WestPoint Stevens, at 1 (July 14, 1997); R. p. 121; Trial Tr. 43:1–10.)

In 1997, the Commission’s actuarial formula yielded a surety requirement of \$1.4 million for WestPoint Stevens. (R. p. 218; Letter from Commission to WestPoint Stevens (July 14, 1997).) WestPoint Stevens and the Commission entered into a “Memorandum of Understanding” that allowed WestPoint Stevens to post a letter of credit in that amount with NationsBank to secure payment for potential workers’ compensation claims. (R. p. 223; Letter of Credit; R. p. 225; Memorandum of Understanding.)

In 2003, after WestPoint Stevens filed for bankruptcy protection, the Commission sent a letter to WestPoint Stevens indicating that its surety for workers’ compensation claims would increase to \$1.8 million. (R. p. 226; Letter from Commission to WestPoint Stevens (July 15, 2003).) In response, WestPoint Stevens amended its existing letter of credit to increase the amount to \$1.8 million. (R. p. 227; Amendment to Letter of Credit (Aug. 1, 2003).)

C. WestPoint Home deposited \$1.8 million to collateralize a letter of credit, but the Commission improperly took the entire deposit.

As noted above, WestPoint Home was the successful bidder during the bankruptcy sale, and it entered into a court-supervised and court-approved Asset Purchase Agreement to acquire

certain of WestPoint Stevens' assets. As a condition of its purchase of assets out of bankruptcy, WestPoint Home agreed to deposit up to \$35 million to collateralize WestPoint Stevens' various existing letters of credit. (R. p. 287; Asset Purchase Agreement § 3.1(a).) Included among those letters of credit was the \$1.8 million letter of credit WestPoint Stevens had with the Commission to cover potential workers' compensation claims in South Carolina. (R. p. 577; Cash Collateral Control Letter Agreement, at WPH0009.)

The Asset Purchase Agreement provided that WestPoint Home was depositing its cash with the understanding that it retained the "right to receive back any portion" of that money that was not used. (R. p. 287; Asset Purchase Agreement § 3.1(a).)

On August 17, 2005, the Commission withdrew the full amount of WestPoint Home's \$1.8 million deposit. (R. p. 67; Commission Reply to Counterclaim ¶ 32.) However, unknown to WestPoint Home, there were not \$1.8 million in claims pending from former WestPoint Stevens employees at the time the Commission withdrew the entire deposit. (R. pp. 101–102; Trial Tr. 23:23–24:8.)

D. The Commission hired a third-party administrator to process claims by former WestPoint Stevens employees, and the last claim was made in 2006.

Through the discovery process, WestPoint Home learned that the Commission hired Key Risk to adjust and administer workers' compensation claims by former WestPoint Stevens employees. (R. p. 591; Contract for WestPoint Stevens South Carolina Run-Off.) The Commission transferred portions of WestPoint Home's deposit to Key Risk and authorized it to pay claims made by former WestPoint Stevens employees. The Commission transferred \$500,000 of WestPoint Home's deposit to Key Risk in September 2005. (R. p. 107; Trial Tr. 29:10–13; R. p. 665; Email from Smith to Sanders (Aug. 26, 2005).) Once those funds were exhausted, the

Commission sent Key Risk another \$500,000 in April 2006. (R. pp. 110–111; Trial Tr. 32:21–33:9; R. p. 666; Email from Smith to Sanders (Apr. 5, 2006).)

But Key Risk did not need all of the funds that the Commission sent in the second transfer. Therefore, once Key Risk completed its work administering claims by former WestPoint Stevens employees and all open claims were closed, Key Risk returned \$364,512.49 of WestPoint Home’s original deposit back to the Commission. (R. p. 113; Trial Tr. 35:17–22; R. p. 667; Table of Account Balance.)

Accordingly, the principal remaining from WestPoint Home’s deposit is \$1,164,512.39. (R. p. 113; Trial Tr. 35:17–22.) The principal balance has not changed since 2008. (R. p. 115; Trial Tr. 37:3–5.)

There has not been a new claim made against the money deposited by WestPoint Home in over 17 years. The last such claim was reported on June 21, 2006. (R. p. 602; Key Risk Loss Run Report, at Claim Ending 4475.) Tellingly, following WestPoint Stevens’ bankruptcy, seven of its former employees filed workers’ compensation claims based on alleged lung illnesses; the Commission denied all seven of those claims. (R. pp. 126–127; Trial Tr. 48:25–49:8; R. pp. 603–643; WestPoint Stevens Claims Data.)

There have not been any payments made from the money deposited by WestPoint Home in over 15 years. The last such payment was made on May 7, 2008, and it was a check for \$45.41 to the Turner Padget Graham & Laney law firm for legal expenses. (R. p. 637; Key Risk WestPoint Payments Spreadsheet, at Claim Ending 7445.)

As of February 28, 2023—the last time the parties reported to the circuit court—the balance on the account holding the remainder of WestPoint Home’s deposit was \$1,730,565.36, which included both (1) principal remaining from WestPoint Home’s initial deposit and (2) interest that

has accumulated on that principal while WestPoint Home's money has been in the Commission's custody. The parties agree that there are no open claims, there is no money reserved to pay claims, and there have not been any new claims in over a decade and a half. (R. p. 117; Trial Tr. 39:6–14.)

II. Procedural History

This litigation is the saga of WestPoint Home's attempt to reclaim the unused portion of its deposit and the interest that has been wrongfully accumulated by the Commission with WestPoint Home's money.

As described below, those efforts have lasted more than a decade because of the Commission's refusal to provide any information at all about what happened to WestPoint Home's deposit. As discovery revealed and as trial confirmed, WestPoint Home is entitled to receive its money back plus interest, as the Commission never needed to sweep the full amount of the deposit out of the bank, and there is no chance of any new claims being made against that deposit as a matter of law.

A. Over a decade ago, WestPoint Home began inquiring into the status of its deposit and requested a refund of the unused portion, but it was stonewalled by the Commission.

The interactions between the parties regarding WestPoint Home's attempt to recover the unused portion of its deposit began with a phone call in 2012, and then with a follow-up letter on February 22, 2013, in which WestPoint Home's then-General Counsel wrote to the Commission seeking certain information as part of an overall goal for "a reduction in the Security Amount held by the State." (R. p. 578; Letter from Funder to Commission (Feb. 22, 2013).)

It took the Commission seven months to respond to the letter. When it did, the Commission stated that it was "unable to release the information you have requested." (R. p. 579; Letter from Roberts to Funder (Sept. 10, 2013).)

WestPoint Home responded by explaining that its money was being used to pay claims for former WestPoint Stevens employees, that it has a reversionary interest in the remainder of its deposit pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court, and that the repose period for any additional claims has closed. (R. p. 581; Letter from Funder to Roberts (Oct. 15, 2013).) The Commission wrote back that it still would not provide any of the requested information to WestPoint Home. (R. p. 583; Letter from Roberts to Funder (Nov. 19, 2013).)

B. The Commission filed suit in 2014 seeking a declaration that it is entitled to keep information regarding WestPoint Home’s deposit a secret, and WestPoint Home counterclaimed to recover its money with interest.

As the next step of its stonewalling, the Commission commenced this case on April 17, 2014, and sought a declaration that WestPoint Home was not entitled to receive the information it had requested, arguing that the information was strictly confidential and could not be disclosed outside of the agency. (R. pp. 46–50; Compl.) In other words, the Commission sought a ruling that it did not have to tell WestPoint Home anything about how the agency had spent WestPoint Home’s money in the intervening nine years.

WestPoint Home responded with a counterclaim seeking an accounting and an order that it is entitled to receive both the requested information and “all monies owed and improperly retained by the State.” (R. p. 60; Ans. & Am. Countercl.) It amended its counterclaim, with permission from the circuit court, to also seek interest. (R. p. 60; *id.*)

The parties jointly moved to have this case referred to the Business Court, where it was assigned to Judge Lee. They also agreed to bifurcate the case into two issues: (1) “Whether Defendant is entitled to access certain records and information maintained by Plaintiff,” and (2) “Whether Defendant is entitled to recover certain monies that are currently in the custody of the State of South Carolina.” (R. p. 17; Consent Scheduling Order (Dec. 11, 2014).)

The parties briefed Issue 1, and the circuit court initially granted summary judgment in the Commission's favor on that issue. (R. p. 19; Order (Apr. 26, 2019).) WestPoint Home timely sought reconsideration of that ruling, and after briefing and a status conference, the circuit court issued an order requiring the Commission to disclose two pieces of information to WestPoint Home: (1) "The number of open health care claims currently asserted against the above-described funds being held by the Treasurer [*i.e.*, WestPoint Home's deposit]"; and (2) "The amount of the funds that remain." (R. p. 29; Order (July 3, 2019).)

Those disclosures resulted in a sea-change in the litigation.

C. The Commission revealed that it still held over \$1.1 million of the principal deposit; it had earned an additional \$600,000 in investment returns off of WestPoint Home's deposit; and it had not paid a claim in over a decade.

The Commission complied with the circuit court's instruction to disclose these data points, and its disclosure was damning: Nearly 15 years after WestPoint Home made its deposit, the agency still held the bulk of that deposit, and there were no open claims.

Armed with this new information, WestPoint Home supplemented its arguments regarding reconsideration and asked the circuit court to require the Commission to produce a loss-run report showing how the agency has paid claims using WestPoint Home's money, and then to perform "an actuarial analysis to determine how much security, if any, would be needed for potential future claims." (R. p. 916; Supp. Mem. at 6 (Sept. 13, 2019).)

Consistent with its stonewalling, the Commission again opposed any additional disclosure, and again it argued that South Carolina law prohibited the Commission from disclosing any information to WestPoint Home about how WestPoint Home's deposit had been spent. (R. p. 925; Resp. Mem. (Oct. 10, 2019).)

The Court held a hearing on October 18, 2019, regarding the access-to-records issue. During that hearing, the Commission revealed for the first time—after litigating the issue for over five years—that the data sought by WestPoint Home was not truly confidential, but instead was in the custody of Key Risk, a third-party administrator that adjusted claims for the Commission.

Following that disclosure, WestPoint Home subpoenaed records from Key Risk, without objection by the Commission. Key Risk complied with the subpoena and produced records showing that the last payment made on any workers' compensation claim from a former WestPoint Stevens employee was a \$45.41 payment to the Turner Padgett Graham & Laney law firm on May 7, 2008. (R. p. 637; Key Risk WestPoint Payments Spreadsheet, at Claim Ending 7445.)

WestPoint Home then sought to depose the Commission through a Rule 30(b)(6) witness regarding the information it received from Key Risk. Consistent with its efforts to prevent WestPoint Home from learning anything about the deposit, the Commission moved for a protective order and sought to quash the deposition. (R. p. 935; Mot. for Protective Order (Mar. 8, 2021).) The circuit court denied that motion and noted that the disclosure of information from Key Risk without objection from the Commission effectively resulted in WestPoint Home's prior motion to reconsider being granted. (R. p. 32; Order Denying Mot. for Protective Order (Nov. 16, 2021).)

Following that order, the Commission produced records revealing the agency has its own actuarial formula for calculating the amount of surety it requires of self-insured employers. (R. p. 216; Letter from Commission to WestPoint Stevens (July 14, 1997).) Under that actuarial formula, which was detailed above in Section I.B, WestPoint Home should have recovered the full balance of its deposit in 2012—which is precisely when WestPoint Home first reached out to the Commission about recovering the remainder of the deposit.

The Commission's records also revealed that at the time of the production, the Commission held a balance of \$1.7 million using WestPoint Home's deposit: principal of \$1.16 million, and the remainder was interest earned off of the principal. (R. p. 668; Trust Fund Report.)

D. At trial, the Commission's Executive Director conceded both that the agency never needed the entire \$1.8 million deposit in the first place and that the repose period for new claims closed in 2007.

Trial took place on August 31, 2022, in Richland County. At trial, Gary Cannon—the Commission's Executive Director—testified unequivocally that the Commission withdrew the entirety of WestPoint Home's \$1.8 million deposit even though there never has been and never will be an actual need for the agency to use all of that money.

1. The Commission took all of WestPoint Home's deposit even though there has never been a need for the entire \$1.8 million deposit.

Director Cannon began his testimony by confirming that the plain language of the letter of credit collateralized by WestPoint Home's deposit allowed the Commission to withdraw money only "if needed":

Q: And item four [of the letter of credit] says that the Commission can draw on a letter of credit *if needed* to pay any Workers' Compensation claim or claims of administration expense; is that right?

A: Yes, sir, that's what it says, *if needed*.

(R. p. 100; Trial Tr. 22:2–:6 (emphasis added).)

He then conceded the Commission withdrew the entire letter of credit—all \$1.8 million of WestPoint Home's money—in 2005 even though only a fraction of the deposit was "needed" to pay claims:

Q: The agreement says that the time the agency can call the letter of credit is if the money is needed to pay claims, right?

A: That's what it says.

Q: That's right. And when the agency withdrew \$1.8 million on August 17th of 2005 and moved it to an account w[ith] the State Treasurer's office, **there was not \$1.8 million in claims pending, were there?**

A: **No, sir, there was not.** We weren't sure, though, because of the type of business they had and the potential asbestos claims that could have been filed.

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