**RECEIVED**

**Jul 09 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**

**In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY**

**Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable Alison R. Lee**

**Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2023-001663**

**Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CP-40-02496**

---

**South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, .....Respondent,**

**v.**

**WestPoint Home, LLC, .....Appellant.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**MONTGOMERY WILLARD, LLC**  
**Michael H. Montgomery**  
**S.C. Bar No. 4034**  
**1002 Calhoun Street**  
**Columbia, SC 29201**  
**803-779-3500**

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

At best, its argument is that the Commission breached an implied contract created by the MOU. Notably, the MOU was not assigned to WestPoint Home. The document was not under seal and its rights to make that claim expired three years after the letter of credit was negotiated.

The alleged breach stems on the meaning of Section 4 of the MOU (R. p.225) which provides "The Commission may, at any time, draw on the Letter of Credit if needed to pay any workers' compensation clam and claims administration expense which are the responsibility of the Employer." Appellant argues that this language should be interpreted not to apply to future claims – the clear language does not state that. Moreover, the statute of limitations in this matter would be three years. "An action for breach of contract must be brought within three years from the date an action accrues." *S.C. Code Ann.* §15-3-530(1) "The limitations period begins to run when a party knows or should know, through the exercise of due diligence, that a cause of action might exist." *Anonymous Taxpayer v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 377 S.C. 425, 439, 661 S.E.2d 73, 80 (2008). Thus, any claim that the letter of credit was improperly negotiated is time-barred.

**III. The Commission's retention of the funds in the State Treasurer's custody is proper because there is a substantial likelihood of latent occupational injury claims against WestPoint Stevens.**

*A. WestPoint Home, LLC misinterprets the Workers' Compensation Act.*

There are two relevant sections in the Act applicable to filing claims for an occupational disease such as byssinosis or mesothelioma. *S. C. Code Ann. §42-15-40* provides that “ ... . however, for occupational disease claims the two-year period does not begin to run until the employee concerned has been diagnosed definitively as having an occupational disease and has been notified of the diagnosis. This statute recognizes the latent nature of certain occupational diseases and the fact that they can take many years to appear after an employee is infected<sup>6</sup>. WestPoint Home suggests that this time is limited by *S.C. Code Ann. §42-11-70*, which it incorrectly characterizes as a “statute of repose.” That section reads:

§ 42-11-70 Time in which disease must have been contracted.

Neither an employee nor his dependents shall be entitled to compensation for disability or death from an occupational disease, except that due to exposure to ionizing radiation, unless such disease was contracted within one year after the last exposure to the hazard peculiar to his employment which caused the disease, save that in the case of a pulmonary disease arising out of the inhalation of organic or inorganic dusts the period shall be two years.

WestPoint Home attempts to conflate the time for contracting the disease enumerated in *S.C. Code Ann. §42-11-70* with the time for making a claim; those dates are not the same. The statutory framework provides that the evidence must show that an employee contracted a pulmonary disease arising out of the inhalation of organic or inorganic dusts within two years after the last exposure.

---

<sup>6</sup> The uncontroverted testimony in the record before the court is that Mesothelioma (an occupational disease related to asbestos exposure, has an average latency period of 43.4 years – meaning that an employee can contract the disease and be unaware that he or she has it for more than four decades.

However, since that is an occupational disease, the statute of limitations does not run until two years after he or she is definitively diagnosed with the disease, presumably with that diagnosis dating the onset of the disease to have been within two years of the last exposure to the dusts.

The plain reading of the statutes coupled with the uncontroverted actuarial information in the record demonstrate the profound need for the Commission to retain the funds on deposit to cover potentially serious occupational disease claims until actuarial data demonstrates that no such claims are likely to arise. Our Courts have ruled consistently with this interpretation. In *McCraw v. Mary Black Hosp.* 350 SC 229 565 S.E 2d 286 (2002 our Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Appeals in noting that the Statute of limitations requires that the employee be: (1) "diagnosed definitively as having an occupational disease," and (2) "notified of the diagnosis," *McCraw, supra*, at 350 S.C. 235-236. The cases interpreting Section 42-11-70 all relate to when the employee allegedly contracted the disease – not when it was diagnosed and further support the Commission's and the Lower Court's interpretation of the statutes. *See. e.g. Spires v. Mt. Vernon Mills, Columbia, Div.*, 277 S.C. 300, 286 S.E.2d 379 (1982) finding that the employee contracted the disease within two years but waited six years after diagnosis to file a claim, that he was barred by the normal statute of limitations and *Parker v. Asbestos Processing, LLC*, 201 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 115094 (D.S.C. June 30, 2015 *aff'd sub. Nom, Southern v. Sishoff*, 675 Fed Appx. 239 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2017) where in a legal malpractice case, the court held that the plaintiffs did not contract asbestosis within two years after the last date of exposure. Notably, that case is distinguishable, because the Court's holding was dicta, and the issue was one of legal malpractice rather than the administration of the Workers' Compensation Act. There the Fourth Circuit acknowledged that there was no South Carolina law on the statute and substituted its judgment. Notably, that decision is neither

correct nor persuasive. The only reasonable construction of the statutes is that *S.C. Code §42-11-70* is not a statute of repose.

*B. Constructing 42-11-70, as WestPoint suggests, is antipathetic to the Statutory Scheme of Workers' Compensation.*

The Workers' Compensation Act is a comprehensive scheme created to provide compensation to employees injured by accidents arising out of and in the course of their employment. *Parker v. Williams & Madjanik, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 65, 69-70, 267 S.E.2d 524, 526 (1980). "The Workers' Compensation Act was designed to supplant tort law by providing a no-fault system focusing on quick recovery, relatively ascertainable awards, and limited litigation." *Nicholson v. S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 411 S.C. 381, 389, 769 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2015). (citing *Wigfall v. Tideland Utils., Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 115, 580 S.E.2d 100, 107 (2003)).

The concept of workers' compensation is "founded upon recognition of the advisability, from the standpoint of society as well as of employer and employee, of discarding the common law idea of tort liability in the employer—employee relationship and of substituting therefor the principle of liability on the part of the employer, regardless of fault, to compensate the employee, in predetermined amounts based upon his wages, for loss of earnings resulting from accidental injury arising out of and in the course of employment." *Parker, id* at 275 S.C. 69-70, 267 S.E.2d 526 (quoting *Case v. Hermitage Cotton Mills*, 236 S.C. 515, 530-31, 115 S.E.2d 57, 66 (1960)) (internal quotation marks omitted). "The employee receives the right to swift and sure compensation; the employer receives immunity from tort actions by the employee." *Id.* "This quid pro quo approach to [workers'] compensation has worked to the advantage of society as well as the employee and the employer." *Id.*

It would be an anathema to the statutory scheme of workers' compensation to interpret *S.C. Code Ann.* §42-11-70 as a statute of repose barring an occupational claim for a respiratory disease like mesothelioma two years after the employee ceased work – because the disease would likely never manifest itself in that time. The Court has held that "A standard principle of statutory construction provides that identical words and phrases within the same statute should normally be given the same meaning."; *Eagle Container Co. v. Cnty. of Newberry*, 379 S.C. 564, 570, 666 S.E.2d 892, 895-96 (2008) (HN8 "'Words in a statute must be construed in context,' and 'the meaning of particular terms in a statute may be ascertained by reference to words associated with them in the statute.'" (quoting *S. Mut. Church Ins. Co. v. S.C. Windstorm & Hail Underwriting Ass'n*, 306 S.C. 339, 342, 412 S.E.2d 377, 379 (1991))).

Moreover, Where the terms of the statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning. *Paschal v. State Election Comm'n*, 317 S.C. 434, 436, 454 S.E.2d 890, 892 (1995). An appellate court cannot construe a statute without regard to its plain meaning and may not resort to a forced interpretation in an attempt to expand or limit the scope of a statute. *Berkebile v. Outen*, 311 S.C. 50, 426 S.E.2d 760 (1993)

The plain reading of the statute means that it should be interpreted as follows. An employee must file a claim for an occupational disease affecting the employee's respiratory system as a result of exposure to dusts within two years after diagnosis. That diagnosis must include a finding that he or she contracted the latent disease within two years of exposure. Such an interpretation addresses the realities of these diseases and the nature of the Workers' Compensation act. It provides a cogent test and a reasonable basis for interpretation. The scheme proposed by the Appellant does neither. Adopting the interpretation advocated by appellant violates the basic rules of statutory construction.

C. *Because WestPoint Stevens is a self-insured employer, if the Commission does not hold the funds, there is no source for an employee diagnosed with one of these conditions to obtain benefits.*

*S.C. Code Ann.* §42-5-10 requires “[e]very employer who accepts the compensation provisions of this title shall secure the payment of compensation to his employees in the manner provided in this chapter.” *S.C. Code Ann.* § 42-5-10 (1976, as amended). Section 42-5-20(A)(1) provides two methods to secure the payment of compensation. First, an employer may purchase an insurance policy from an authorized insurance company.<sup>7</sup> Second, it permits an employer to furnish proof of their financial ability to pay directly by qualifying as a self-insurer. Individual employers may self-insure, or a group of employers in businesses of a similar nature may pool together to create a self-insurer fund. The third way an employer may secure compensation payment is limited to government entities that can participate in the State Accident Fund. *S.C. Code Ann.* § 42-7-10.

Self-insurers are governed by Article 15 of the Regulations of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission. In order to comply with the requirement under § 42-5-10 to secure the payment of compensation, the regulations give self-insurers several options. They may establish a reserve account<sup>8</sup>, post a security bond<sup>9</sup>, pledge securities<sup>10</sup>, or secure an irrevocable letter of credit<sup>11</sup>. Each of these methods ensures that there is security available from some third entity in the event the employer becomes unable to pay, such as when it becomes bankrupt.

---

<sup>7</sup> Employer may purchase insurance on the open market from a licensed agent. Employers who are unable to purchase a policy on the open market can qualify to obtain coverage through the SC Department of Insurance’s Assigned Risk Program.

<sup>8</sup> *S.C. Code Ann. Regs* 67-1504 (2023)

<sup>9</sup> *Reg.* 67-1505

<sup>10</sup> *Reg.* 67-1506

<sup>11</sup> *Reg.* 67-1507

Self-insurers have no sovereign-backed guarantee. In the event that a self-insurer goes bankrupt or is otherwise unable to meet its payment obligations, the security under Regs. 67-1504-1507 is the only means to pay claimants their benefits. There is no Guaranty Association for self-insurers. *See* § 42-5-20(C). Once the application to become self-insured has been approved, each self-insured individual employer and fund is required to meet specific annual obligations to remain active in the self-insured program.

- File a Form 10 (§ 42-5-190)
- Submit their GAAP financial statements for analysis of the self-insureds financial condition 90-120 days after the close of their FY (R.67-1510)
- Subject to an audit for all self-insured documents submitted for the past 2 years (R.67-1511)
- Maintain a letter of credit or surety bond (R.67-1505 or R.67-1507)
- Maintain excess insurance (R.67-1503)

A bankrupt self-insured employer does not fulfill these annual requirements, which is why the Commission negotiates the surety to protect the former employees.

The Commission has followed its policy, and the funds are properly maintained by the Treasurer's Office.

*D. WestPoint Home failed to demonstrate that the funds held by the Commission are not necessary to satisfy future workers' compensation claims filed by Employees of WestPoint Stevens.*

WestPoint Home's argument is premised on its theory that the Commission should treat a bankrupt self-insurer in the same manner that it treats a continuous self-insurer, which is liable for every claim presented. Here, the Commission must determine what claims may be filed in the future and protect the interests of the former employees of the bankrupt entity, which has no liability for any claims moving forward beyond the fund created by the security. The record before the court is bereft of evidence to support the claim that there will be no future claims.

WestPoint Home's argument is an example of an *Ad Ignorantiam* fallacy. The entire basis of its argument is that because there have been no new claims in the last sixteen years, there will be no new claims in the future. The latency period of these types of illnesses suggests an actuarial probability that claims will arise. On the date of trial, the expert testified that this likelihood is almost a certainty. "If we go forward in time to 2030, there's a 96.8 percent chance that if he were here today, we would not know [that he had mesothelioma]. (R. p.186, line 25-p. 187, line 1). The only evidence in the record is that there are likely to be claims, and the Commission needs to hold the funds until that likelihood becomes statistically insignificant.

#### **IV. Sovereign Immunity Bars WestPoint Home from any entitlement to pre-judgment interest.**

Chief Justice Costa Pleicones noted in a concurring opinion in *EllisDon Contrs., Inc. v. Clemson University* 391 S.C. 552, 556,557, 707 S.E.2d 399, 402 (2011) disposed of the issue of pre-judgment interest against the State which is applicable to the Workers' Compensation Commission here. He wrote:

It is well settled that the doctrine [of sovereign immunity] bars recovery of interest against the State "unless [the State has been] bound by an act of the Legislature or by a lawful contract of its executive officers . . . *Monarch Mills v. S.C. Tax C'n.*, 149 S.C. 219, 146 S.E. 870 (1929) *see also, e.g. Div. of Gen. Serv. v. Ulmer*, 256 S.C. 523, 183 S.E.2d 315 (1971).

In 1985, this Court prospectively abrogated the doctrine of sovereign immunity insofar as that doctrine had insulated state and local governments from tort liability. *McCall v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E.2d 741 (1985). *McCall* included Appendix A, a list of 122 cases, and provided that these cases were "overruled to the extent that they hold that an action may not be maintained against the State without its consent." Although *Monarch Mills* and *Ulmer* are on that list, their holdings that the State is not liable for prejudgment interest except when bound by statute or by contract remain unaffected as the right to this interest is not a matter of tort liability.

Notably, no subsequent case has challenged this opinion, so as a matter of law and precedent, WestPoint Home cannot recover prejudgment interest against the Commission.

#### **V. WestPoint Home has abandoned any appeal of the Circuit Court's 2019 Order**

WestPoint Home purported to appeal the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment to the Commission in its request for documents<sup>12</sup>. That appeal was not argued in its brief. Our courts have long held that "[a]n issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court." *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) . Since WestPoint Home failed to brief or even mention the issue in its brief, it has abandoned this appeal.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's order.